COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON Case No. 69567-3-1

In Re the Marriage of:

MASOOD ABAWI, Appellant/Petitioner,

And

WALQUIRIA GUTIERREZ, Respondent/Respondent.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

MASOOD ABAWI, pro se 14858 SE Fairwood Blvd Renton, WA 98058 (206) 293-6000 Appellant/Petitioner *pro se*

Margaret Bender, WSBA #11948 777 108th Avenue NE, Suite 2240 Bellevue, WA 98004 (425) 452-0000 Attorneys for Respondent/Respondent

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred by excluding appellant's direct witnesses in granting respondent's motion in limine.
- 2. The trial court erred by excluding rebuttal witnesses offered by appellant.
- The trial court erred by excluding evidence from separate but related Snohomish County matter but then relying on testimony regarding that case in the final parenting plan.
- 4. The trial court erred in its determination of appellant's income by imputing past income when he had been unemployed for almost two years and he presented evidence of new employment at significantly lower income.
- The trial court erred in its disposition of property not properly considering testimony re respondent's personal expenses and petitioner's prolonged period of unemployment, financial situation and presently reduced income.

II. ISSUES

- Did the trial court properly exercise its discretion by excluding appellant's direct witnesses in granting respondent's motion in limine?
- 2. Did the trial court properly exercise its discretion by excluding rebuttal witnesses of appellant?

- 3. Did the trial court properly exercise its discretion by excluding evidence from separate but related Snohomish County case yet relying on testimony regarding that case in its parenting plan?
- 4. Did the trial court properly consider evidence of appellant's prolonged period of unemployment and new employment at significantly lower wage in imputing appellant's income for purposes of determining child support?
- 5. Did the trial court properly consider evidence of respondent's personal expenditures and appellant's prolonged period of unemployment and new employment at significantly lower wage in disposition of property, including vehicles?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties were married in April 2006 and have three children together. CP 8. The appellant/petitioner Mr. Abawi continues to live together with his extended family, including his sister, brothers, and, until recently, his mother, who passed away December 25, 2012. RP 13:1-7

Allegations were made by Ms. Gutierrez during the trial concerning purported inappropriate behavior by one of Mr. Abawi's brothers, Shafiq, towards one of their children. RP Vol. 1 53-55, Vol. 2 17:9-23. Appellant/Petitioner is also involved in a modification action in Snohomish County, involving the same opposing counsel, concerning the same allegations, which remains unresolved in the Snohomish County court. RP Vol. 1 53-55, Vol. 2 17:9-24.

Mr. Abawi sought to admit direct testimony from his sister, Mariam Abawi, and a Snohomish County Master Patrol Deputy, Robert Rozzano, concerning these allegations, as well as documents from Snohomish County. RP Vol. 1 53-55, Vol. 2 17:9-24. This testimony was excluded by the trial court in its order on Ms. Gutierrez's motion in limine. CP 40-46. Ms. Gutierrez had also named Mr. Abawi's sister, Mariam, as a potential witness. CP 70. Ms. Gutierrez also did not even name some of her witnesses, specifically FCS evaluator Nicole Bynum, until after receiving Mr. Abawi's proposed list of witnesses. CP 52-53.

During the trial, Mr. Abawi also sought to call these witnesses to rebut the allegations made by Ms. Gutierrez. RP Vol. 1 53-55, Vol. 2 17:9-24. The court also excluded any rebuttal testimony from these witnesses, as well as other evidence, including a declaration of Dep. Rozzano. RP Vol. 1 53-55, Vol. 2 17:9-24. The court had indicated during the trial that it would not be placing much reliance on the claims relating to Mr. Abawi's brother and related evidence and testimony available from the Snohomish County matter. RP Vol. 1 53-55, Vol. 2 17:9-24.

In the final parenting plan entered, however, after the conclusion of trial, the court placed various restrictions on Mr. Abawi directly relating to these allegations. CP 130, 135.

Evidence was also presented at trial of Mr. Abawi's extended unemployment for a period of about two years, as well evidence on reconsideration of new employment at significantly lower income. CP 147-174. The court entered a support order imputing to Mr. Abawi his much earlier level of income. CP 100, 108-109.

The award of a money judgment and community property vehicles to the respondent did not adequately consider the respondent's own testimony concerning her personal expenditures and the appellant's extended period of unemployment and new work at significantly reduced wage. RP Vol. 1 30:6-16, 32:20-22. CP 114-115, 147-174.

B. STATEMENT OF PROCEDURE RE COURT'S RULING

The court, in its initial ruling on exclusion of Mr. Abawi's witnesses, did not clearly indicate that lesser sanctions had been considered. RP Vol. 1 53-55, Vol. 2 17:9-24. The court's exclusion of his witnesses, as well as its later exclusion of rebuttal

witnesses and evidence severely prejudiced his case. RP Vol. 1 53-55, Vol. 2 17:9-23. CP 47.

It is unclear from the record whether the court properly considered Mr. Abawi's current income in its support determination. CP 100, 108-109.

It is also unclear from the record whether the court properly weighed factors under RCW 26.09.080 in its property distributions at trial. CP 178-179.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Parenting Plan.

In reviewing a trial court's ruling dealing with the provisions of a parenting plan, the standard of review is abuse of discretion. *In re Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997).

It appears that the requirement for supervision in the parenting plan and restrictions under RCW 26.09.191 are predicated on the presence of Mr. Abawi's brother at the household. CP 130, 135. It is therefore unclear what purpose is served by additionally requiring the brother to remain 500 feet away at all times, particularly as there is no finding or charge regarding the brother. The appellant was not allowed to rebut testimony leading to the 191 restrictions ultimately entered. Additionally,

this requirement imposes significant and burdensome logistical difficulties on petitioner and his family, which may have the unintended and undesirable effect of adversely impacting visitation.

These requirements are further troubling given that the Court may not have considered all relevant evidence concerning any such requirement. Despite comment from the Court that the Snohomish County matter was not conclusive, the fact that there was no FCS recommendation to that effect, and the lack of any CPS finding in that matter, the final parenting plan appears to incorporate allegations raised in testimony about that case into its final parenting plan. CP 5-29, 130, 135. RP Vol. 1 53-55, Vol. 2 17:9-23.

Mr. Abawi was denied the opportunity to rebut the respondent's allegations despite offering the testimony of three witnesses: Mariam Abawi, Amir Abawi, and Snohomish County Sheriff's Deputy Robert Rozzano. RP Vol. 1 53-55, Vol. 2 17:9-23. Additionally, the Court did not admit either petitioner or respondent's documentary evidence, specifically the declaration of Deputy Rozzano and the court minutes offered by respondent. Given the relatively harsh sanction of denying relevant witness testimony, direct or rebuttal, and the lack of documentary evidence supporting such a requirement, the Court is urged to reconsider these provisions.

Further, as presently written, this provision will effectively prohibit petitioner's daughter and his brother from ever being able to jointly engage with the family until she is an adult. This would appear to be an unduly harsh, perhaps unintended, result that does not seem reasonably consistent with the relative paucity of evidence considered.

B. Exclusion of Testimony.

..

• •

"When the trial court 'chooses one of the harsher remedies allowable under **CR 37(b)**, ... it must be apparent from the record that the trial court explicitly considered whether a **lesser sanction** would probably have sufficed,' and whether it found that the disobedient party's refusal to obey a discovery order was willful or deliberate and substantially prejudiced the opponent's ability to prepare for trial. *Snedigar v. Hodderson*, 53 Wn. App. 476, 487, 768 P.2d 1 (1989) (citing to due process considerations outlined in *Associated Mortgage*), *rev'd in part*, 114 Wn.2d 153, 786 P.2d 781 (1990).

The Court has also found that 'it is an abuse of discretion to exclude testimony as a sanction [for noncompliance with a discovery order] absent any showing of intentional nondisclosure, willful violation of a court order, or other unconscionable conduct.' *Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Ctr. v. Holman*, 107 Wn.2d 693, 706, 732 P.2d 974 (1987) (quoting *Smith v. Sturm, Ruger & Co.*, 39 Wn. App. 740, 750, 695 P.2d 600, 59 A.L.R.4th 89, review denied, 103 Wn.2d 1041 (1985))" Magana v. Hyundai Motor America, 141 Wn. App. 495, 170 P.3d 1165 (2007); Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 494, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997) "[We] hold that the reference in Burnet to the 'harsher remedies allowable under **CR 37(b)**' applies to such remedies as dismissal, default, and the exclusion of testimony—sanctions the affect a party's ability to present its case—but does not encompass monetary compensatory sanctions under CR 26(g) or CR 37(b)(2). Mayer v. Sto Indus., Inc., 156 Wn.2d 677, 690, 132 P.3d 115 (2006).

..

• 5

In fact, in this matter, no order regarding discovery was in fact obtained by the opposing party prior to trial. The court excluded Mr. Abawi's witnesses at the start of trial and later excluded his calling of any rebuttal witnesses or presentation of rebuttal evidence. Additionally, the respondent Ms. Gutierrez had even named one of the direct and rebuttal witnesses the petitioner sought to call, his sister, Mariam Abawi, so it is difficult to discern what prejudice allowing her testimony would have caused the respondent.

C. Child Support.

In reviewing a trial court's ruling concerning child support, the standard of review is manifest abuse of discretion. *In re Marriage of Griffin*, 114 Wn.2d 772, 791 P.2d 519 (1990).

With regard to determination of child support, RCW 26.19.071, referenced in RCW 26.09.100, indicates several factors, including wages, in guiding an appropriate level of support. Evidence of Mr. Abawi's current income levels and period of extended unemployment, does not appear to have been appropriately weighed in the support determination.

D. Property Distribution.

In reviewing a trial court's ruling concerning property distribution, the standard of review is abuse of discretion. *In re Marriage of Kraft*, 119 Wn.2d 438, 832 P.2d 871 (1992), *aff'd*, 119 Wn.2d 438 (1992).

RCW 26.09.080 also requires to Court to consider the economic circumstances of the parties prior to a distribution. The award of a money judgment and community property vehicles to the respondent did not adequately consider the respondent's own testimony concerning her personal expenditures and the appellant's extended period of unemployment and new work at significantly reduced wage.

V. CONCLUSION

-

On the basis of the foregoing, the appellant/petitioner respectfully requests that this matter be remanded for a new trial to determine a parenting plan which properly factors in all relevant testimony and evidence, child support obligations recalculated to more accurately reflect the appellant's financial situation, and reconsideration of property distributions, allowing for consideration of all relevant testimony.

Marcol Abours