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

V.ARGUMENT 

A. FAILURE TO PROVIDE A VERBATIM REPORT OF 

PROCEEDINGS RENDERS TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS A 

VERITY ON APPEAL 

The Mr. Abawi has the burden to perfect the record so the 

appellate court has before it all the evidence relevant to an issue. In re 

Marriage of Haugh, 58 Wn. App. 1, 6, 790 P.2d 1266 (1990). Mr. Abawi 

has only provided excerpts of the report of proceedings to Ms. Gutierrez' s 

counsel, apparently those excerpts that support his theories. There is a 

general principle that the failure to provide a verbatim report of 

proceedings renders the trial court's findings verities on appeal. Morris v. 
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Woodside, 101 Wn. 2d 812, 814, 682 P.2d 905 (1984). For that reason 

alone, his challenge to the court's rulings should fail. 

B. MR. ABA WI HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ERRORS 

IN THE PARENTING PLAN ENTERED BY THE TRIAL COURT 

1. No Good Cause Demonstrated by Mr. Abawi for His 

Failure to Identify Witnesses 

Ms. Gutierrez filed a Motion in Limine to exclude Mr. Abawi 's 

witnesses from testifying at trial. CP 40-46. Interrogatories and Requests 

for Production had been served on Mr. Abawi but he refused to identify 

any witnesses in his Answers to the Interrogatories. CP 40-46. No 

supplementation of those Answers was ever provided. CP 40-46.Further, 

he failed to file a Witness List or disclose any witnesses pursuant to the 

KCLR 26(k) until September 5, 2012 one day prior to the assignment of 

the case for trial to the Honorable Judge Doerty. CP 78. The Clerk's 

Papers incorrectly identifies the Witness List filed on May 31, 2012 as 

from Petitioner, when it was the Respondent, Ms. Gutierrez's Witness List 

filed on that date. CP 1. 

Interrogatories were served on the Mr. Abawi and he prepared 

Answers and served them on Ms. Gutierrez's attorney. CP 40-46. 

Interrogatory 119 asked "Do you intend to call any expert witness at the 

trial of this matter?" Mr. Abawi responded: "Petitioner has not 
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determined which expert witnesses, if any Petitioner intends to call at trial. 

CP 40-46. If Petitioner elects to retain expert witnesses in the future, 

Petitioner will update its discovery responses if and as required by the 

Civil Rules." No updates were ever provided. CP 40-46. 

Interrogatory 120 asked "Please state the names, addresses, and 

telephone numbers of all non-expert witnesses you might call at trial, and 

specify the subject matter of each such witness' expected testimony." CP 

40-46. Petitioner responded: "Petitioner has not determined which 

witnesses, if any Petitioner intends to call at trial. If Petitioner elects to 

retain witnesses in the future, Petitioner will update its discovery 

responses if and as required by the Civil Rules." CP 40-46. No updates 

were ever provided. CP 40-46. 

The Court of Appeals has held that CR 26( e) 1 places a duty to 

reasonably supplement responses to interrogatories. Rupert v. Gunter, 31 

Wn. App. 27 at 32,640 P.2d 36 (1982). 

KCLR 26(k)(4) states that "Any person not disclosed in 

compliance with this rule may not be called to testify at trial, unless the 

Court orders otherwise for good cause and subject to such conditions as 

justice requires." That rule requires disclosure of witnesses "no later than 

the date for disclosure designated in the case schedule." KCLR 

26(k)(1)(2). Lancaster v. Perry, 127 Wn.App. 826, 828 (2005) ruled that 
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"Under King County Local Rule 26(f), witnesses not timely disclosed may 

not testify at trial, absent a showing of good cause." The trial court's 

action in excluding witnesses is reviewed under the standard that the abuse 

of discretion which must be "manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on 

untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." Burnett v. Spokane 

Ambulance. 131,484, 494, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997), Lancaster v. Perry, 

During the trial Mr. Abawi attempted to call as "rebuttal 

witnesses" the same witnesses which were excluded in the ruling on the 

Motion in Limine. RP Vol. 2 11, 12, 16, 17. Upon objection by Ms. 

Gutierrez's attorney that designating the excluded witnesses as "rebuttal 

witnesses" was an attempt to circumvent the Order on the Motion in 

Limine, the court agreed with Ms. Gutierrez and continued to exclude the 

witnesses. RP Vol. 2 11, 12, 16, 17. 

Mr. Abawi cites Snediger v. Hodderson, 53 Wn. App. 476,487, 

768 P.2d 1 (1980) for the proposition that the court should consider lesser 

sanctions. The court in that case addresses the need to consider a sanction 

less harsh than outright dismissal of the case. They held that when the 

most severe sanction of default or dismissal is imposed, the trial court 

should explicitly consider whether lesser sanctions would probably cure 
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the improper behavior. This is not a case where the trial court dismissed 

Mr. Abawi' s case and the case is inapposite. 

Mr. Abawi cites a series of cases to suggest that sanctions other 

than exclusion of testimony should be applied, culminating with a cite to 

Burnett, supra. Yet Lancaster v. Perry, supra, addresses this violation of 

KCLR 26(f) directly and specifically concludes that Burnett does not 

apply. It distinguishes that case in part by explaining that the specific 

name of the witness had been disclosed prior to the Brunett trial, whereas, 

as in this case, no witness was identified in Lancaster v. Perry, id.at 832. 

As Lancaster v. Perrry concludes at page 833 ; "Requiring parties to 

disclose witnesses allows the opposing party to prepare for trial." Mr. 

Abawi was represented by an attorney at all times during the dissolution 

action and there has been no good cause demonstrated for the failure to 

disclose witnesses and the court did not abuse its discretion in excluding 

witnesses. 

2. The Trial Court Properly Exercised Discretion in 

Excluding Certain Evidence With Respect to Father's Older 

Daughter, Sabrina Abawi, and The Trial Court's Entry of RCW 

26.09.191 Restrictions Were Supported by the Evidence 

The court entered a final Parenting Plan that included 26.09.191(3) 

restrictions as follows: 
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The father has neglected and substantially deferred parenting 
functions to his extended family and his mother in particular. The father 
has engaged in abusive use of conflict which creates a danger to the 
children's psychological development. His deliberate refusal to see his 
older daughter from another relationship is further evidence of these 
concerns. CP 131 

A Domestic Violence Assessment was ordered in this case and that 

report was entered into evidence at the trial. That report stated: 

With respect to the father, FCS has concerns that his behaviors (calling the 
mother a prostitute, reporting his suspicions about her to federal 
authorities) and his allegations (that she uses drugs and abuses the 
children) could have serious implications for the wellbeing of the children 
in the future. Those behaviors are not only inappropriate for the children 
to witness, but could jeopardize their relationship and bond with the 
mother. If the behaviors persist they should be taken into consideration in 
a final parenting plan and could warrant a restriction for the father. CP 26. 

In addition to the Domestic Violence Assessment, Mr. Greenleaf 

from Family Court Services performed a parenting evaluation. That report 

was entered into evidence as well. The report states: 

FCS believes that this behavior by the father together with prior 
information should be the basis for concluding a discretionary RCW 
29.09.191 restriction against the father was appropriate because of the 
history of lack of cooperation. FCS would add that with the conclusion 
regarding the father's abusive use of conflict, that sole decision-making 
for major decisions should be designated to the mother. CP 17. 

The father has a daughter from a previous relationship, Sabrina 

Abawi, then age 11, that was the subject of a separate court action in 

Snohomish County. Ms. Gutierrez offered the minute entry from the 

Snohomish County court hearing in which the Commissioner Bedle found 

17 



with respect to that child: "Petitioner Abawi's lack of insight and the fact 

that he will not even consider that there may be an issue in his household 

is of concern to the court. His actions in his dissolution are vindictive and 

inappropriate." Judge Doerty initially reserved ruling on the exhibit but, 

ultimately excluded the exhibit. RP Vol. 1 3, RP Vol. 3 13. Ms. 

Gutierrez's counsel was able to elicit from Mr. Abawi on cross 

examination that, after supervised visits had been ordered, he had made no 

effort to visit with his older daughter for over three months. 

The trial court's refusal to admit a declaration from a sheriffs 

detective was appropriate under hearsay rules, and would have added 

nothing useful to the evidence. ER 801,802. Judge Doerty made it clear 

that the Snohomish County case was collateral to the facts of the case 

before him and he did not restrict Mr. Abawi's residential time as a result 

of that case. RP 2 14. CP 126-136. Mr. Abawi's goal was to re-direct the 

court's attention from the facts. 

Among other substantive reasons why she was afraid to visit with 

her father in his home, the older daughter had accused the father's brother, 

who lived with the father, of sexual molestation. That information had 

been provided to the parenting evaluator subsequent to his written 

evaluation, but prior to the trial. That information was addressed at trial in 

examination of the parenting evaluator and of Mr. Abawi, although that 
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testimony is not supplied in the excerpts of the report of the proceeding. 

This information led to the imposition of a restriction in the Parenting Plan 

under VI. Other Provisions on page 7: 

Until such time that the father's brother, Faquier Abawi, no longer resides 
in the father's residence, all visitations shall be supervised. 
At no time or under any circumstances salll Faquier Abawi be allowed 
within 500 feet of the children. CP 135. 

Mr. Abawi has failed to demonstrate that the trial court abused its 

discretion in making that provision a part of the Parenting Plan. While 

the trial court indicated that it would not place a great deal of reliance on 

the allegations regarding the sexual abuse of the father's older daughter by 

his brother in adopting a residential schedule, it did, naturally, impact 

other provisions in the Parenting Plan and led to the restriction which 

prevented his brother from coming within 500 feet of the children. RP 2 

14. CP 126-136. Standard restraining orders routinely contain such 

provisions. The fact that investigation of the allegations by his daughter 

had not been completed by the time of trial does not lead to the conclusion 

that it should be ignored. To the extent that the Mr. Abawi complains 

of the court's ruling, he repeatedly declined opportunities to support his 

challenge to the evidence. Mr. Abawi made no attempt to offer any 

exhibits to refute the claims. There was no offer of a letter from CPS that 

they had made a determination that the allegation was "unfounded". Ms. 
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Gutierrez would have no access to the CPS investigation. There was no 

attempt to introduce documentation that would show that the police had 

dismissed their investigation. There was no offer of the Guardian ad 

Litem's report from the proceeding addressing his older child. There was 

no attempt to present any court order which might have been entered in 

Snohomish County which discounted these concerns. There is only a 

suggestion by Mr. Abawi that ifhis family had been allowed to testify, the 

court would have been satisfied with their testimony and allowed the 

brother unrestricted access to his very young children. Mr. Abawi 

complains that there is no FCS recommendation, but the parenting 

evaluator only learned of the issue subsequent to filing his report. Mr. 

Abawi has some obligation to make a record on his objection. 

Mr. Abawi attempts to suggest that the court's ruling was unduly 

harsh in its impact but Mr. Abawi' s only complaint seems to be that this 

provision will impose a logistical burden on him and his family. The court 

is then then asked to be concerned about the fact that this alleged child 

molester will not have a relationship with the mother's very young 

children. Mr. Abawi appears to believe that he is somehow the victim of 

the inconvenience required to protect those young children. He already 

failed to protect his older child. 
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C. MR. ABAWI'S FAILURE TO SEEK EMPLOYMENT, HIS 

DEMONSTRATED ABILITY TO WORK AND EARN INCOME, 

AND HIS SPENDING HABITS NOTWITHSTANDING HIS 

ALLEGATIONS OF LACK OF INCOME WERE SUFFICIENT TO 

PROVIDE FOR THE COURT'S FINDING OF IMPUTED 

INCOME. 

Evidence of two years of unemployment was presented by Mr. 

Abawi. The mother, however, presented evidence of unusual deposits in 

his bank accounts, frequent travels overseas, and an unusual lack of effort 

to find employment, particularly for a man with four children to support. 

His prior history of employment was taken into account and imputed 

income was attributed to him. The father waited until after the trial before 

finding a low paying position at a relative's store and moved for 

reconsideration of the ruling to take into account his then actual wages. CP 

145. That Motion for Reconsideration was denied. CP 184. 

Mr. Abawi claims that it is unclear from the record whether the 

court properly considered Mr. Abawi's current income in its support 

determination. Because the Mr. Abawi did not provide a complete record 

of the proceedings the record may be unclear to him, but the court denied 

the Motion for Reconsideration which addressed the current income based 

on the evidence submitted at trial.CP 184. 
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Additionally, the excerpted report of proceedings makes it obvious 

that the court was carefully considering the different bases for determining 

Mr. Abawi' s income. The court addresses the three worksheets before it 

directly. RP Vol. 3 10, 11. It considered the worksheets submitted by the 

father with the knowledge that the figures were based on the anticipated 

income from the job he interviewed for. RP Vol. 3, 10. The court also 

reviewed the temporary order of child support and questioned the source 

of that income which was identified as unemployment income. RP Vol. 3 

10, 11 He then examined the worksheets proposed by the mother and 

adopted those worksheets which he knew imputed income to the father. 

RPVol.311. 

To succeed on appeal, the appellant must show that the trial court's 

decision was manifestly unreasonable, or was based on untenable grounds 

or untenable reasons. In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 39, 47, 940 

P.2d 1362 (1997). RCW 26.19.035(3) requires the application of a child 

support schedule and the completion of worksheets in a proceeding where 

child support is determined. RCW 26.19.071(6) requires the court to 

impute income to a voluntarily underemployed parent. A court makes this 

determination based on that parent's work history, education, health, age, 

and other relevant factors. RCW 26.19.071(6). Under RCW 26.19.071(6), 

income is imputed based on the median income established 
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by the U.S. Census Bureau in the absence of information to the contrary. 

Mr. Abawi's willful failure to seek employment for two years for the 

purpose of avoiding support obligations left him unable to adequately 

demonstrate his earning capacity which caused the court to use the median 

income figures. The immediate employment after entry of the order at a 

low paying job in an attempt to establish a lower income was another 

obvious tactic to lower his support obligation and increase the burden on 

Ms. Gutierrez for supporting the children. 

D. MR. ABAWI HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ERRORS 

IN THE PROPERTY DISTRIBUTION ENTERED BY THE TRIAL 

COURT 

The award of a money judgment was to compensate the mother for 

fact that the father drained the mother's retirement account during the 

marriage, leaving her with a substantial loan to repay, in the amount of 

$350 per paycheck, or over $700 per month. RP Vol. 2 4, 5 The evidence 

showed that prior to marriage the mother owned her own townhome, had 

retirement savings, and long term employment with Sprint although most 

of this evidence has been excluded from the excerpted report of 

proceeding. During the marriage the mother had to sell her townhome and 

gave the proceeds to her husband, although most of this evidence has been 

excluded from the excerpted report of proceeding. She took out a 
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• 

substantial loan from her 401k to fund the father's activities although most 

of this evidence has been excluded from the excerpted report of 

proceeding. RP Vol. 2 8. The mother's need for low cost transportation 

was in evidence and the court's distribution of property took that fact into 

account when it awarded her the Honda automobile. 

The court heard evidence of the husband's wasting of the wife's 

separate assets she brought into the marriage although most of this 

evidence has been excluded from the excerpted report of proceeding .. For 

purposes of dividing property in a dissolution action under RCW 

26.09.080, the Washington courts have broad discretion and will not 

single out a particular factor and require as a matter of law that it be given 

greater weight than other relevant factors, since the applicable statute 

requires the trial court to weigh all factors, within the context of particular 

circumstances of the parties, to come to a fair, just and equitable division 

of the property. Under the statute, the division of property is controlled 

not by the character as separate or community but rather by what is just 

and equitable, taking into account the economic circumstances of the 

parties Washburn v, Washburn, 101 Wash.2d 168,677 P.2d 152 (1984). 

Under appropriate circumstances, a trial court in a dissolution proceeding 

need not divide community property equally and it need not award 

separate property to its owner. The court can exercise its discretion to 
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make ajust and equitable settlement. White v, White, 105 Wash app. 545, 

20 P.3d 481 (2001). 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Judge Doerty's Orders are comprehensive and resolve all matters. 

They should be affirmed on the grounds stated by Judge Doerty, or on 

other grounds suggested in this Brief. The trial court may be affirmed on 

any basis supported by the record, even if the trial court did not consider 

the argument. LaMon v. Butler, 112 Wn.2d 193,200-01, 770 P.2d 1027 

(1989). On the basis of the forgoing, the Ms. Gutierrez respectfully 

requests that this court dismiss the appeal and affirm the ruling below. 

~--